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Explanatory Note
 
This Amendment No. 1 (this “Amendment”) to the Form 8-K of MTBC, Inc. (the “Company” or “MTBC”), originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) on April 4, 2019 (the “Original Form 8-K”), is being filed by the Company for the purpose of amending and supplementing Item 9.01 of the Original Form 8-K. This
Amendment is being filed to provide the information required by Items 9.01(a) and (b) of Form 8-K and Rules 8-04 and 8-05 of Regulation S-X that was not previously filed
with the Original Form 8-K, as permitted by the rules of the SEC and the instructions to Form 8-K. Except as provided herein, the disclosures made in the Original Form 8-K
remain unchanged.
 
 



 
 
Section 9 ― Financial Statements and Exhibits
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits
    
 (a)  Financial statements of businesses acquired
    
   The consolidated financial statements of Etransmedia Technology, Inc. (“ETM”), the entity for whom substantially all of its assets were acquired by the Company

with an effective date of April 1, 2019, are filed as Exhibit 99.1 and 99.2 to this Form 8-K and incorporated by reference herein.
    
 (b)  Pro forma financial information
    
   Pro forma financial information with respect to the acquisitions of ETM and Orion Target Businesses is filed as Exhibit 99.3 to this Form 8-K and incorporated by

reference herein.
    
 (c)  Exhibits
    
   Exhibit

 
No.  Description
   
23.1  Consent of Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.
   
99.1  Annual consolidated financial statements of Etransmedia Technology, Inc., filed herewith.
   
99.2  Interim consolidated financial statements of Etransmedia Technology, Inc., filed herewith.
   
99.3  Pro forma financial information with respect to the acquisitions of Etransmedia Technology, Inc. and Orion Target Businesses, filed herewith.
   
99.4  Supplemental information.
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SIGNATURE(S)
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, hereunto
duly authorized.
 
  MTBC, Inc.
  (Registrant)
   
 By: /s/ Stephen A. Snyder
  Stephen A. Snyder
  Chief Executive Officer
 

Date: June 13, 2019
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Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We have issued our report dated May 31, 2019, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Etransmedia Technology, Inc. for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, included in this Form 8-K of MTBC, Inc. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement of MTBC, Inc. on Forms S-8 (File
Nos. 333-226685, 333-217317 and 333-203228).
 
/s/ Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.  
  
East Greenbush, New York  
June 13, 2019  
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Etransmedia Technology, Inc. and Its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Etransmedia Technology, Inc. and its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
stockholders’ equity (deficiency), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
Auditor’s Responsibility
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Opinion
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Subsequent Event
 
As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, on April 3, 2019, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with MTBC-Med, Inc. and
substantially all the assets of the Company were purchased for $1.6 million and certain liabilities were assumed effective as of April 1, 2019. Our opinion is not modified with
respect to that matter.
 
/s/ Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.
 
East Greenbush, New York
May 31, 2019
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 ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

 
  2018   2017  
ASSETS         
CURRENT ASSETS:         

Cash  $ 864,993  $ 3,828,564 
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $526,852 and $760,668 at December 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively   1,909,553   2,313,912 
Contract asset   136,386   - 
Receivable from affiliates   -   1,601,850 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   588,828   292,226 

Total current assets   3,499,760   8,036,552 
Property and equipment - net   135,561   182,822 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 3,635,321  $ 8,219,374 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIENCY) EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:         

Accounts payable  $ 1,584,095  $ 1,987,578 
Accrued compensation   480,321   1,394,167 
Accrued expenses   1,208,853   784,689 
Payable to affiliates   5,982,784   - 
Income tax payable   26,123   56,527 
Current portion of revenue share payable   111,980   150,610 
Deferred rent   50,339   11,392 
Capital lease payable   -   18,367 

Total current liabilities   9,444,495   4,403,330 
Revenue share payable, less current portion   20,933   437,246 
Deferred rent, less current portion   68,439   118,778 

Total liabilities  $ 9,533,867  $ 4,959,354 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 10)         
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIENCY) EQUITY         

Common stock   1   1 
Additional paid-in capital   42,498   42,498 
Retained (deficit) earnings   (5,941,045)   3,217,521 
Total stockholders’ (deficiency) equity   (5,898,546)   3,260,020 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIENCY) EQUITY
 $ 3,635,321  $ 8,219,374 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

 
  2018   2017  
NET REVENUE  $ 12,250,751  $ 18,308,559 
OPERATING EXPENSES:         

Direct operating costs   13,827,864   12,028,757 
General and administrative   7,856,875   15,095,200 
Depreciation and amortization   82,115   3,399,613 
Software impairment   -   3,101,614 
Goodwill impairment   -   21,370,659 

Total operating expenses   21,766,854   54,995,843 
OPERATING LOSS   (9,516,103)   (36,687,284)
OTHER:         

Interest income (expense)   855   (11,336)
Other income   169,415   142,594 

LOSS BEFORE BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES   (9,345,833)   (36,556,026)
Benefit for income taxes   (49,791)   (667,785)
NET LOSS  $ (9,296,042)  $ (35,888,241)
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

 

  
Common 

stock   

Additional
paid-in
capital   

Retained
earnings (deficit)   

Stockholders’
equity

(deficiency)  
             
Balance January 1, 2017  $                 1  $ 42,498  $ 39,105,762  $ 39,148,261 

Net loss   -   -   (35,888,241)   (35,888,241)
Balance December 31, 2017 before adoption   1   42,498   3,217,521   3,260,020 
Cumulative effect of adopting ASC 606           137,476   137,476 
Balance January 1, 2018 after adoption   1   42,498   3,354,997   3,397,496 

Net loss   -   -   (9,296,042)   (9,296,042)
Balance December 31, 2018  $ 1  $ 42,498  $ (5,941,045)  $ (5,898,546)
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

 
  2018   2017  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:         

Net loss  $ (9,296,042)  $ (35,888,241)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation   82,115   509,432 
Deferred rent   (11,392)   5,397 
Amortization of goodwill   -   2,890,181 
Goodwill impairment   -   21,370,659 
Software impairment   -   3,101,614 
Provision for doubtful accounts   1,051,242   901,436 
Benefit for deferred income taxes   -   (780,000)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable   (646,883)   (1,100,661)
Contract asset   1,090   - 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (296,602)   (88,848)
Accounts payable   (403,483)   586,960 
Accrued compensation   (913,846)   711,824 
Accrued expenses   424,164   (130,908)
Income tax payable   (30,404)   56,527 
Revenue share payable   (454,943)   (282,600)

Net cash used in operating activities   (10,494,984)   (8,137,228)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:         

Purchase of equipment and software   (34,854)   (3,119,969)
Net cash used in investing activities   (34,854)   (3,119,969)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:         
Funding (repayments) to affiliates   7,584,634   (1,333,896)
Principal payments on capital lease   (18,367)   (40,064)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   7,566,267   (1,373,960)
NET DECREASE IN CASH   (2,963,571)   (12,631,157)
CASH - Beginning of the year   3,828,564   16,459,721 

CASH - End of the year
 $ 864,993  $ 3,828,564 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION - Cash (refunded) paid during the year for:         
Income taxes  $ (19,387)  $ 55,688 
Interest  $  (855 )  $ 11,336 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS
 
Etransmedia Technology, Inc. (“ETM”) was formed and commenced operations during 2000. Archiivus, LLC (“ARC”), Hart Associates, LLC (“HRT”), Associated Billing
Services, LLC (“ABS”), Medi-Claim Services, LLC (“MDS”), Mediigistics, LLC (“MDG”), and DoctorsXL Holdings, LLC (“DXL”), all wholly owned subsidiaries, were
acquired by ETM on various dates from May 2004 through December 2014 (collectively, the “Company”). ETM is primarily engaged in providing software and information
services for physicians, medical practices and health systems. The Company operates in the states of Connecticut, Massachusetts, New York, North Carolina, Pennsylvania,
Ohio, Arizona, and Nevada. ETM is a wholly owned subsidiary of Formativ Health, Inc. (“FHI”) and was acquired by FHI in September 2016.
 
In April 2019, MTBC-Med, Inc. (“MED”), a Delaware corporation and a subsidiary of MTBC, Inc, entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”) with FHI to acquire
substantially all of the assets of ETM. The agreement for sale was signed on April 3, 2019, with the transaction being effective as of April 1, 2019. Pursuant to the APA and
subject to the conditions set forth therein, MED paid $1.6 million in cash and assumed certain liabilities in connection with the acquisition.
 
2. LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN

 
FASB Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern, requires that management evaluate whether there are
relevant conditions and events that, in the aggregate, raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.
 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to account for the Company’s inability to continue as a going concern. The APA was effective April 1,
2019, and accordingly the doubts about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern were alleviated.
 
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect allocations of direct and indirect expenses related to certain overhead functions that are provided on a centralized basis at the
corporate level by FHI. These expenses have been allocated to the Company based on the revenue of the respective entities.
 
Management believes that the assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements, including the assumptions regarding the allocation of expenses, are reasonable.
Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements may not include all of the actual expenses that would have been incurred by the Company and may not reflect the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows that would have been reported if the Company had not been wholly owned by FHI during the years
presented.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ETM and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include, but are not limited to: (1) impairment of long-lived assets; (2) depreciable lives of property and equipment;
(3) allowance for doubtful accounts; (4) amortization lives of intangible assets; and (5) fair value of identifiable purchased tangible and intangible assets. Actual results could
significantly differ from those estimates.
 
Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances at several
financial institutions. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000. At times, the Company has bank deposits
in excess of the amounts insured by the FDIC.
 
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value. Accounts receivable are presented on the consolidated balance sheets net of allowance for doubtful accounts, which
is established based on reviews of receivable balances, an assessment of the customers’ current creditworthiness and the probability of collection. Accounts are written off when
it is determined that collection of the outstanding balance is no longer possible.
 
An account receivable is considered to be past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than 30 to 90 days. Interest is not charged on any past due
accounts.
 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are reported at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expenditures for repairs and
maintenance are charged to expenses as incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments, which extend the useful lives of the existing property and equipment, are
capitalized and depreciated. Upon retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any
gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
The estimated useful lives for each major classification of depreciable property and equipment are as follows:
 
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Computer equipment 2-5 years
Software 3 years
 
The Company amortizes leasehold improvements over the lesser of the lease term or the economic life of those assets. Generally, the lease term is the base lease term plus
certain renewal option periods for which renewal is reasonably assured and for which failure to exercise the renewal option would result in an economic penalty to the
Company.
 
Evaluation of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its property and equipment and intangible assets for impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. If the sum of undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company will recognize an impairment loss
based on the fair value of the asset.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
There was approximately a $3.1 million of impairment of long-lived assets during the year ended December 31, 2017. There was no impairment of long-lived assets during the
year ended December 31, 2018.
 
Goodwill
The Company adopted ASU 2014-02, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: Accounting for Goodwill” as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, which
provides an accounting alternative for the measurement of goodwill, and allows goodwill to be amortized upon adoption prospectively on a straight-line basis over a life of 10
years, or less than 10 years if appropriate. The Company has made a determination that the appropriate useful life of goodwill is 10 years.
 
The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually. The Company assesses qualitative factors, such as macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, overall
financial performance and other relevant events, such as changes in management, key personnel, strategy or customers, at the consolidated level. Management has elected to test
goodwill impairment at the consolidated level rather than the reporting unit (wholly owned subsidiary) level as business operations have been integrated to synergize prior
acquisitions such that the fair value of the Company should be considered as a whole when assessing goodwill impairment.
 
If the Company determines that it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50%) that its consolidated fair value is less than its carrying amount, including
goodwill, it will perform the following to determine impairment, if any exists.
 
In accordance with ASU 2017-04, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: Simplifying the Accounting for Goodwill Impairment, the Company compares its consolidated fair value to
its carrying value. If its consolidated fair value exceeds the carrying value of its net assets, goodwill is not considered impaired. If the carrying value exceeds its fair value, the
Company must analyze the fair value of its consolidated goodwill relative to its carrying value. If its carrying value exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recorded to
write goodwill down to fair value.
 
Determining the fair value at the consolidated level involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include projected revenue
growth rates, operating margins, capital expenditures and related depreciation to calculate estimated cash flows.
 
Due to the operating losses incurred and loss of customers in 2017, the Company determined that its goodwill was fully impaired and recorded a full impairment adjustment for
the year ended December 31, 2017. The impairment adjustment amounted to approximately $21 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 and is included in goodwill
impairment in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
Deferred Rent
Deferred rent consists of rent escalation payment terms related to the Company’s operating leases for its facilities. Deferred rent represents the difference between actual
operating lease payments due and straight-line rent expense, which is recorded by the Company over the term of the lease, including any construction period. The excess of the
difference between actual operating lease payments due and straight-line rent expense is recorded as a deferred credit in the early periods of the lease when cash payments are
generally lower than straight-line rent expense, and is reduced in the later periods of the lease when payments begin to exceed the straight-line expense.
 
Income Taxes
The Company files consolidated federal and state income tax returns as well as separate state returns, as appropriate, for each reporting entity. Prior to the year ended December
31, 2017, the Company filed income tax returns on a fiscal year basis with a fiscal year ending May 31st. Income tax returns filed in the calendar year 2017 included those filed
for the tax year ending May 31, 2017, as well as returns for the short period June 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017, when the Company adopted a calendar year-end.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
The Company records income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect our estimates of the future tax consequences of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, including operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. The Company
determines deferred income taxes based on the differences in accounting methods and timing between financial statement and income tax reporting. The Company periodically
evaluates deferred tax assets, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards to determine their recoverability based primarily on the Company’s ability to
generate future taxable income. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets, if it is more likely than not that all, or some portion, of such deferred tax
assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date.
 
Under the asset and liability method, the Company must recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such a
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. The ultimate resolution of these tax
positions may be greater or less than the liabilities recorded. The Company recognizes estimated future interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions, if any, as
income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
The Company is currently subject to audit in various jurisdictions, and these jurisdictions may assess additional income tax liabilities against the Company. Developments in an
audit, litigation, or in applicable laws, regulations, administrative practices, principles, and interpretations could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated operating
results or cash flows in the period or periods in which such developments occur, as well as for prior and in subsequent periods.
 
Revenue Share Payable
In connection with previous acquisitions, the Company entered into agreements with certain of the sellers that provide payments to those sellers, which are contingent upon sales
to certain customers that were acquired as part of the acquisitions. The terms of these agreements extend through 2020.
 
Revenue Recognition
The principal source of revenues is fees charged to clients based on a percentage of net collections of the client’s accounts receivable. The business typically receives payment
from the client within 30-60 days of billing. The fees vary depending on specialty, size of practice, payer mix, and complexity of the billing. The Company also receives revenue
from its transcription and credentialing services which are considered ancillary services.
 
For the year 2017, the Company recognized revenue when there is evidence of an arrangement, the service has been provided to the customer, the collection of the fees is
reasonably assured and the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable. The Company bills its customers on a monthly basis, in arrears. Fees charged to
customers for the services provided are typically based on a percentage of net collections on the clients’ accounts receivable. For 2017, the Company did not recognize revenue
for service fees until the Company had received notification that a claim had been accepted and the amount which the physician will collect is determined, as the fees are not
fixed and determinable until such time.
 
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASC 606”) using the modified retrospective
method as applied to certain medical billing services that were in process as of January 1, 2018. As a result, financial information for reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018, are presented in accordance with ASC 606. Comparative financial information for reporting periods beginning prior to January 1, 2018, have not been adjusted
and continues to be reported in accordance with the Company’s revenue recognition policies prior to the adoption of ASC 606. The Company recorded a cumulative adjustment
related to the adoption of ASC 606 of approximately $137,000. The primary impact of adopting ASC 606 was to accelerate the timing of revenue on certain medical billing
services provided to customers.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
Beginning January 1, 2018, revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied over time.
 
All of the Company’s revenue arrangements are based on contracts with customers. Most of the Company’s contracts with customers contain single performance obligations,
although certain contracts do contain multiple performance obligations where the Company performs more than one service for the same customer. The Company accounts for
individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct within the context of the contract. For contracts where the Company provides multiple services such as where
the Company performs multiple ancillary services, each service represents its own performance obligation. Selling or transaction prices are based on the contractual price for the
service.
 
A five-step approach is applied in the recognition of revenue under ASC 606: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract,
(3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance
obligation.
 
Although the Company believes its approach to estimates and judgments is reasonable, actual results could differ, and the Company may be exposed to increases or decreases in
revenue that could be material. The Company’s estimates of variable consideration may prove to be inaccurate, in which case we may have understated or overstated the
revenue recognized in a reporting period. The amount of variable consideration recognized to date that remains subject to estimation is included within the contract asset within
the consolidated balance sheet.
 
Payment of invoices is due as specified in the underlying customer agreement which occurs on the date of transfer of control of the services to the customer. Since payment
terms are less than a year, the Company has elected the practical expedient and does not assess whether a customer contract has a significant financing component.
 
The Company’s revenue arrangements generally do not include a general right of return for services provided.
 
Direct Operating Costs
Direct operating costs consist primarily of salaries and benefits related to personnel who provide services to clients, claims processing costs, and other direct costs related to the
Company’s services. Costs associated with the implementation of new clients are expensed as incurred.
 
Depreciation and amortization have not been allocated and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of operations.
 
Accounting Updates Not Yet Effective
Changes to U.S. GAAP are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) in the form of accounting standard updates (“ASUs”) to the FASB’s
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”). The Company considered the applicability and impact of all ASUs. ASUs not mentioned below were assessed and determined to
be either not applicable or are expected to have minimal impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 (Leases (“Topic 842”)) and its subsequent amendments to the initial guidance within ASU 2018-01, ASU 2018-10, ASU
2018-11 and ASU 2018-20, respectively (collectively, Topic 842). Topic 842 requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on their balance sheet for
virtually all of their leases (other than leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease). The lease liability will be equal to the present value of lease payments and the right-
of-use asset will be based on the lease liability, subject to adjustment such as for initial direct costs. For income statement purposes, this standard retains a dual model similar to
ASC 840, requiring leases to be classified as either operating or finance. For lessees, operating leases will result in straight-line expense (similar to current accounting by lessees
for operating leases under ASC 840) while finance leases will result in a front-loaded expense pattern (similar to current accounting by lessees for capital leases under ASC
840). While this standard maintains similar accounting for lessors as under ASC 840, this standard reflects updates to, among other things, align with certain changes to the
lessee model. Topic 842 includes a number of optional practical expedients that we may elect to apply. Expanded disclosures with additional qualitative and quantitative
information will also be required. This standard will be effective for the Company for annual and interim reporting periods beginning on or after December 15, 2019, and early
adoption is permitted. The Company plans to adopt ASC 842 as of January 1, 2019. The Company believes the adoption of this standard will have a significant impact on its
consolidated balance sheets. However, the Company does not expect the adoption to change the recognition, measurement or presentation of lease expense within its
consolidated statements of operations or the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company currently expects that most of its operating lease commitments will be subject
to the new standard and recognized as operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets upon adoption of the standard, which will increase total assets and total liabilities that the
Company will report relative to such amounts prior to adoption. Information about the Company’s undiscounted future lease payments and the timing of those payments is in
Note 10, Commitment and Contingencies.
 
Subsequent Events
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Company has evaluated subsequent events between the balance sheet date of December 31, 2018 and May 31,
2019, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
 
4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
A summary of property and equipment as of December 31 is as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2018   2017  
Equipment  $ 617,488  $ 618,447 
Software   644,197   787,311 
Furniture and fixtures   274,664   274,957 
Leasehold improvements   66,620   51,860 
Total property and equipment   1,602,969   1,732,575 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,467,408)   (1,549,753)
Property and equipment – net  $ 135,561  $ 182,822 
 
5. GOODWILL
 
Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired. The following is the summary of changes to the
carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2018   2017  
Beginning balance  $                -  $ 28,691,552 
Accumulated amortization   -   (7,321,193)
Impairment   -   (21,370,359)
Ending balance  $ -  $ - 
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
There was no amortization expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2018. Amortization expense was approximately $2,890,000 for the year ended December 31,
2017.
 
6. REVENUE
 
Beginning January 2018, the Company accounts for revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective method.
All revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to a customer and is
the unit of account under ASC 606. Under the new standard, the Company recognizes revenue when the revenue cycle management services begin on the medical billing
claims, which is generally upon receipt of the claim from the provider. For revenue cycle management services, the Company estimates the value of the consideration it will
earn over the remaining contractual period as services are provided and recognizes the fees over the term; this estimation involves predicting the amounts the Company’s clients
will ultimately collect associated with the services they provided. Certain significant estimates, such as payment-to-charge ratios, effective billing rates and the estimated
contractual payment periods are required to measure revenue cycle management revenue under the new standard. The timing of the revenue recognition of the Company’s other
revenue streams were not materially impacted by the adoption of ASC 606.
 
Most of the Company’s current contracts with customers contain a single performance obligation. For contracts that provide multiple services, such as where the Company
performs multiple ancillary services, each service represents its own performance obligation. Selling prices are based on the contractual price for the service.
 
The Company applies the portfolio approach as permitted by ASC 606 as a practical expedient to contracts with similar characteristics and use estimates and assumptions when
accounting for those portfolios. The Company’s contracts generally include standard commercial payment terms. The Company has no significant obligations for refunds,
warranties or similar obligations and its revenue does not include taxes collected from customers.
 
Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
The Company derives revenue from three primary sources: revenue cycle management services, ancillary services and reimbursement and other revenue.
 
The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:
 
  Years Ended December 31  
  2018   2017  
Revenue cycle management services  $ 9,504,430  $ 15,519,107 
Ancillary services   2,472,297   2,330,170 
Reimbursement and other revenue   274,024   459,282 

Total  $ 12,250,751  $ 18,308,559 
 
Revenue cycle management services:
Revenue cycle management services are the recurring process of submitting and following up on claims with health insurance companies in order for the healthcare providers to
receive payment for the services they rendered. ETM typically invoices customers on a monthly basis based on the actual collections received by its customers and the agreed-
upon rate in the sales contract. The services include use of practice management software and related tools (on a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) basis) and medical billing
services. The Company considers these services to be one performance obligation since the promises are not distinct in the context of the contract. The performance obligation
consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern of transfer to its customers.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
In many cases, the Company’s clients may terminate their agreements with 90 days’ notice without cause, thereby limiting the term in which the Company has enforceable
rights and obligations, although this time period can vary between clients. The Company’s payment terms are normally net 30 days. Although contracts typically have stated
terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 the Company’s contracts are considered month-to-month and accordingly, there is no financing component.
 
For the majority of the Company’s revenue cycle management contracts, the total transaction price is variable because the Company’s obligation is to process an unknown
quantity of claims, as and when requested by the customers over the contract period. When a contract includes variable consideration, the Company evaluates the estimate of the
variable consideration to determine whether the estimate needs to be constrained; therefore, the Company includes variable consideration in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. Estimates to determine variable consideration such as payment to charge ratios, effective billing rates, and the estimated contractual payment periods are
updated at each reporting date. Revenue is recognized over the performance period using the input method.
 
Other revenue streams:
Ancillary services represent services such as document management services, coding and transcription that are rendered in connection with the delivery of revenue cycle
management and related medical credentialing services. The Company invoices customers monthly, based on the actual amount of services performed at the agreed upon rate in
the contract. These services are only offered to revenue cycle management customers. These services do not represent a material right because the services are optional to the
customer and customers electing these services are charged the same price for those services as if they were on a standalone basis. Each individual coding, credentialing or
transcription transaction processed represents a performance obligation, which is satisfied over time as that individual service is rendered.
 
Reimbursement and other revenue are related to expenses paid by the Company for its customers. The Company passes these expenses on to its customers at cost.
 
For all of the above revenue streams, revenue is recognized over time, which is typically one month or less, which closely matches the point in time that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company. Each service is substantially the same and has the same periodic pattern of transfer to the
customer. Each of the services provided above is considered a separate performance obligation.
 
Information about contract balances:
Accounts receivable are shown separately at their net realizable value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts that the Company is entitled to collect under the applicable
contract are recorded as accounts receivable. Invoicing is performed at the end of each month when the services have been provided. The contract asset results from the
Company’s medical billing services and is due to the timing of revenue recognition, submission of claims from the Company’s customers and payments from the insurance
providers. The contract asset includes the Company’s right to payment for services already transferred to a customer when the right to payment is conditional on something other
than the passage of time. The contract asset was approximately $136,000 as of December 31, 2018. Changes in the contract asset are recorded as adjustments to net revenues and
primary result from providing services to customers that result in additional consideration and are offset by the Company’s right to payment for services becoming
unconditional.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
7. PROFIT SHARING PLANS
 
On January 1, 2015, the Etransmedia Technology, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “ETM Plan”) was established. Participating employees may make pre-tax contributions to their 401(k)
accounts, via salary deferrals, up to limits prescribed in the Internal Revenue Code. The Company makes a matching contribution equal to 40% of the employee’s elective
deferrals not to exceed 2% of an employee’s eligible earnings.
 
The Company made $107,332 and $81,686 in matching contributions to the ETM Plan for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
There is a separate 401(k) plan for HRT whereas the Company makes a safe harbor matching contribution equal to 100% of the employee’s salary deferrals that do not exceed
4% of an employee’s eligible earnings. The Company made $12,262 and $25,527 in safe harbor contributions to the HRT plan for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.
 
8. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Voting Common Stock
The Company has 180,000 authorized shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which 1,012 shares are issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018
and 2017.
 
9. INCOME TAXES
 
Details of the Company’s provision (benefit) for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, are as follows:
 
  December 31,   December 31,  
  2018   2017  
Current:         

State  $ (49,791)  $ 112,215 
Federal   -   - 

Total Current   (49,791)   112,215 
Deferred:         

State   -   - 
Federal   -   (780,000)

Total Deferred   -   (780,000)
Total income tax benefit  $ (49,791)  $ (667,785)
 
There were no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017. There were no accrued interest or penalties recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
 
The actual tax expense differs from the “expected” tax expense (computed by applying the federal corporation tax rates to earnings (loss) before income taxes) due to the
following:
 
  2018   2017  
Federal statutory tax rate   21.0%   35.0%
Change in valuation allowance   (20.9)%  (19.6)%
Change in federal statutory rate, TCJA   0.0%   (12.8)%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   0.0%   (0.6)%
Other, net   (0.1)%  (0.2)%
Tax rate   0.0%   (1.8)%
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AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted. Among other changes, the Act reduces the U.S. statutory corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21
percent. As a result of the Tax Act, and pursuant to ASC 740 guidelines, impacts of legislative changes to deferred taxes are recorded in the period of enactment. Accordingly,
the Company has adjusted the deferred income tax balances as of December 22, 2017 to reflect the reduced rate that will apply in future periods when these deferred tax assets
and liabilities will be realized. The Company recorded a $4.7 million adjustment with a corresponding full valuation allowance adjustment to our net deferred tax liabilities for
the impact of the 2017 Tax Act.
 
Deferred tax assets are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax
rates. Temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows as of
December 31:
 
  2018   2017  
Provision for doubtful accounts  $ 474,530  $ 477,852 
Property and equipment, net   (25,321)   (36,035)
Goodwill and other intangibles, net   2,775,316   3,111,475 
Accrued compensation   47,571   293,193 
Deferred rent   27,141   29,744 
Net operating loss   6,765,798   4,043,158 
Research and development tax credit   96,974   96,974 
Alternative minimum tax credit   28,294   28,294 
   10,190,303   8,044,655 
Valuation allowance   (10,190,303)   (8,044,655)
Net deferred tax assets  $ -  $ - 
 
At December 31, 2018, the Company has unused Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $28.5 million. Of these, approximately $62,000 will expire in the
year 2022, with the remainder expiring through 2037. Net operating losses incurred after January 1, 2019 have no expiration. The Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ ability to
utilize their net operating loss carryforwards may be significantly limited by IRC Section 382, if the Company or any of its subsidiaries undergoes an “ownership change” as a
result of changes in the ownership of the Company’s or its subsidiaries’ outstanding stock.
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has approximately $97,000 of research and development tax credit carry forwards, which if not utilized, will begin to expire in 2030,
and approximately $27,000 of alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards, which have no expiration date.
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AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred
tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the three-year period ended December 31, 2018. Such objective
evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth.
 
On the basis of this evaluation, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, a full valuation allowance of approximately $10.2 million has been recorded, as management does not
foresee the deferred tax asset of approximately $10.2 million to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates
of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and
additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth.
 
Activity in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is as follows as of December 31:
 
  2018   2017  
Valuation allowance, beginning of year  $ 8,044,655  $ - 
Change in federal statutory tax rate   -   (4,587,867)
Provision for doubtful accounts   (3,322)   770,628 
Property and equipment, net   10,715   (58,114)
Goodwill and other intangibles, net   (336,160)   5,017,849 
Accrued compensation   (245,622)   472,830 
Deferred rent   (2,603)   47,968 
Net operating loss   2,722,640   6,256,093 
Research and development tax credit   -   96,974 
Alternative minimum tax credit   -   28,294 
Valuation allowance, end of year  $ 10,190,303  $ 8,044,655 
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states, and local jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal jurisdiction
income tax examinations by tax authorities for the years before May 31, 2015. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. state or local jurisdiction income
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before May 31, 2014.
 
10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Litigation
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to litigation which is not expected to have any material impact on the consolidated financial position or liquidity of
the Company. The Company estimates whether such liabilities are probable to occur and whether reasonable estimates can be made, and records a liability when both conditions
are met. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be accurately predicted due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, in the opinion of management, based upon
current information, no currently pending or overtly threatened claim is expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, or results of operations,
other than those that have been accrued in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
 
Operating Lease Obligations
The Company has lease agreements for 3 office spaces located in the United States. The current leases require monthly payments ranging from approximately $6,300 to
$16,000 and expire between September 30, 2019 and June 30, 2022. Expenses for these leases totaled approximately $254,000 and $340,000 for the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.
 
A summary of the Company’s future minimum operating lease obligations for office facilities which are non-cancellable as of December 31, 2018 is as follows:
 
For the Years Ending December 31,  Total  
2019  $ 450,376 
2020   459,534 
2021   439,275 
2022   101,625 
Total  $ 1,450,810 
 
11. RELATED PARTIES
 
The Company received approximately $7.6 million of funding from FHI during the year ended December 31, 2018. FHI also provided administrative and accounting support to
the Company and to its other operations, which costs have been allocated on the basis of revenue of the respective entities.
 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
 
Effective April 1, 2019, substantially all the assets of the Company were purchased by MED for $1.6 million plus the assumption of certain liabilities as specified in the APA.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)
AS OF MARCH 31, 2019

 

 
ASSETS     
CURRENT ASSETS:     

Cash  $ 772,156 
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $687,187   1,668,264 
Contract asset   139,169 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   269,555 

Total current assets   2,849,144 
Property and equipment - net   114,763 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,146,116 
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 4,110,023 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY     
CURRENT LIABILITIES:     

Accounts payable  $ 803,356 
Accrued compensation   231,451 
Accrued expenses   852,877 
Payable to affiliates   8,589,420 
Income tax payable   27,623 
Revenue share payable   91,319 
Operating lease liability (current portion)   386,385 

Total current liabilities   10,982,431 
Operating lease liability, less current portion   837,861 
Total liabilities  $ 11,820,292 
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)     

STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY:     
Common stock   1 
Additional paid-in capital   42,498 
Retained deficit   (7,752,768)
Total stockholders’ deficiency   (7,710,269)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY  $ 4,110,023 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019

 

 
NET REVENUE  $ 2,067,208 
OPERATING EXPENSES:     

Direct operating costs   2,715,762 
General and administrative   1,140,871 
Depreciation and amortization   20,798 

Total operating expenses   3,877,431 
Operating loss before provision for income taxes   (1,810,223)
Income tax provision   1,500 
NET LOSS  $ (1,811,723)
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019

 

 

  
Common

stock   
Additional paid-in

capital   Retained deficit   
Stockholders’

deficiency  
             
Balance December 31, 2018  $      1  $ 42,498  $ (5,941,045)  $            (5,898,546)

Net loss   -   -   (1,811,723)   (1,811,723)
Balance March 31, 2019  $ 1  $ 42,498  $ (7,752,768)  $ (7,710,269)
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019

 

 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:     
Net loss  $ (1,811,723)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:     

Depreciation and amortization   20,798 
Lease amortization   88,898 
Provision for doubtful accounts   100,000 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     
Accounts receivable   141,289 
Contract asset   (2,783)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   319,273 
Accounts payable and other liabilities   (950,379)
Accrued compensation   (248,870)
Accrued expenses   (355,976)

Net cash used in operating activities   (2,699,473)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:     

Funding from affiliates   2,606,636 
Net cash provided by financing activities   2,606,636 

NET DECREASE IN CASH   (92,837)
CASH - Beginning of the period   864,993 
CASH - End of the period  $ 772,156 
 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS
 
Etransmedia Technology, Inc. (“ETM”) was formed and commenced operations during 2000. Archiivus, LLC (“ARC”), Hart Associates, LLC (“HRT”), Associated Billing
Services, LLC (“ABS”), Medi-Claim Services, LLC (“MDS”), Mediigistics, LLC (“MDG”), and Doctors XL Holdings, LLC (“DXL”), all wholly owned subsidiaries, were
acquired by ETM on various dates from May 2004 through December 2014 (collectively, the “Company”). ETM is primarily engaged in providing software and information
services for physicians, medical practices and health systems. The Company operates in the states of Connecticut, Massachusetts, New York, North Carolina, Pennsylvania,
Ohio, Arizona, and Nevada. ETM is a wholly owned subsidiary of Formativ Health, Inc. (“FHI”) and was acquired by FHI in September 2016.
 
In April 2019, MTBC-Med, Inc. (“MED”), a Delaware corporation and a subsidiary of MTBC, Inc, entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”) with FHI to acquire
substantially all of the assets of ETM. The agreement for sale was signed on April 3, 2019, with the transaction being effective as of April 1, 2019. Pursuant to the APA and
subject to the conditions set forth therein, MED paid $1.6 million in cash and assumed certain liabilities in connection with the acquisition.
 
2. LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN

 
FASB Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern, requires that management evaluate whether there are
relevant conditions and events that, in the aggregate, raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are issued.
 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to account for the Company’s inability to continue as a going concern. The APA was effective April 1,
2019, and accordingly the doubts about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern were alleviated.
 
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect allocations of direct and indirect expenses related to certain overhead functions that are provided on a centralized basis at the
corporate level by FHI. These expenses have been allocated to the Company based on the revenue of the respective entities.
 
Management believes that the assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements, including the assumptions regarding the allocation of expenses, are reasonable.
Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements may not include all of the actual expenses that would have been incurred by the Company and may not reflect the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows that would have been reported if the Company had not been wholly owned by FHI during the period
presented.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ETM and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated in consolidation.
 
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant estimates and assumptions made by management include, but are not limited to: (1) impairment of long-lived assets; (2) depreciable lives of property and equipment;
(3) allowance for doubtful accounts; and (4) fair value of identifiable purchased tangible and intangible assets. Actual results could significantly differ from those estimates.
 
Cash
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash balances at several
financial institutions. Accounts at each institution are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000. At times, the Company has bank deposits
in excess of the amounts insured by the FDIC.
 
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at their net realizable value. Accounts receivable are presented on the consolidated balance sheet net of allowance for doubtful accounts, which is
established based on reviews of receivable balances, an assessment of the customers’ current creditworthiness and the probability of collection. Accounts are written off when it
is determined that collection of the outstanding balance is no longer possible.
 
An account receivable is considered to be past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than 30 to 90 days. Interest is not charged on any past due
accounts.
 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are reported at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expenditures for repairs and
maintenance are charged to expenses as incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments, which extend the useful lives of the existing property and equipment, are
capitalized and depreciated. Upon retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any
gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
The estimated useful lives for each major classification of depreciable property and equipment are as follows:
 
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Computer equipment 2-5 years
Software 3 years
 
The Company amortizes leasehold improvements over the lesser of the lease term or the economic life of those assets. Generally, the lease term is the base lease term plus
certain renewal option periods for which renewal is reasonably assured and for which failure to exercise the renewal option would result in an economic penalty to the
Company.
 
Evaluation of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its property and equipment and intangible assets for impairment whenever changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. If the sum of undiscounted expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company will recognize an impairment loss
based on the fair value of the asset.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
There was no impairment of property and equipment during the three months ended March 31, 2019.
 
Income Taxes
The Company records income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the Company’s estimates of the future tax consequences of
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, including operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. The
Company determines deferred income taxes based on the differences in accounting methods and timing between financial statement and income tax reporting. The Company
periodically evaluates deferred tax assets, net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards to determine their recoverability based primarily on the Company’s
ability to generate future taxable income. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets, if it is more likely than not that all, or some portion, of such
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date.
 
Under the asset and liability method, the Company must recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statement from such a
position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. The ultimate resolution of these tax
positions may be greater or less than the liabilities recorded. The Company recognizes estimated future interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax positions, if any, as
income tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
The Company is currently subject to audit in various jurisdictions, and these jurisdictions may assess additional income tax liabilities against the Company. Developments in an
audit, litigation, or in applicable laws, regulations, administrative practices, principles, and interpretations could have a material effect on the Company’s operating results or
cash flows in the period or periods in which such developments occur, as well as for prior and in subsequent periods.
 
Revenue Share Payable
In connection with previous acquisitions, the Company entered into agreements with certain of the sellers that provide payments to those sellers, which are contingent upon sales
to certain customers that were acquired as part of the acquisitions. The terms of these agreements extend through 2020.
 
Revenue Recognition
The principal source of revenues is fees charged to clients based on a percentage of net collections of the client’s accounts receivable. The business typically receives payment
from the client within 30-60 days of billing. The fees vary depending on specialty, size of practice, payer mix, and complexity of the billing. The Company also receives revenue
from its transcription and credentialing services which are considered ancillary services.
 
All of the Company’s revenue arrangements are based on contracts with customers. Most of the Company’s contracts with customers contain single performance obligations,
although certain contracts do contain multiple performance obligations where the Company performs more than one service for the same customer. The Company accounts for
individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct within the context of the contract. For contracts where the Company provides multiple services such as where
the Company performs multiple ancillary services, each service represents its own performance obligation. Selling or transaction prices are based on the contractual price for the
service.
 
A five-step approach is applied in the recognition of revenue under ASC 606: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract,
(3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenue when the Company satisfies a
performance obligation.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
Although the Company believes its approach to estimates and judgments is reasonable, actual results could differ, and the Company may be exposed to increases or decreases in
revenue that could be material. The Company’s estimates of variable consideration may prove to be inaccurate, in which case the Company may have understated or overstated
the revenue recognized in a reporting period. The amount of variable consideration recognized to date that remains subject to estimation is included within the contract asset
within the consolidated balance sheet.
 
Payment of invoices is due as specified in the underlying customer agreement which occurs on the date of transfer of control of the services to the customer. Since payment
terms are less than a year, the Company has elected the practical expedient and does not assess whether a customer contract has a significant financing component.
 
The Company’s revenue arrangements generally do not include a general right of return for services provided.
 
Direct Operating Costs
Direct operating costs consist primarily of salaries and benefits related to personnel who provide services to clients, claims processing costs, and other direct costs related to the
Company’s services. Costs associated with the implementation of new clients are expensed as incurred.
 
Depreciation and amortization have not been allocated and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of operations.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new standard requires organizations that have leased assets, referred to as “lessees,” to
recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities that represent the rights and obligations created by those leases, respectively. Under the new guidance, a lessee is
required to recognize assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months. Consistent with current GAAP, the recognition, measurement and presentation of
expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease. However, unlike current GAAP which
requires only capital leases to be recognized on the balance sheet, the new ASU requires both types of leases to be recognized on the balance sheet. The FASB has subsequently
issued further ASU’s related to the standard providing additional practical expedients and an optional transition method allowing entities to not recast comparative periods. The
amendments in ASU No. 2016-02 are now effective.
 
The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2019 using the optional transition adjustment method. As part of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company performed an
assessment of the impact of the new lease recognition standard has on the consolidated financial statements. All of the Company’s leases, which consist of facility and
equipment leases, have been classified as operating leases. The Company does not have any financing leases. The Company adopted the requirements of the new standard
without restating the prior periods. There was no impact to the accumulated deficit as of the date of adoption. For leases in place at the transition date, the Company adopted the
package of practical expedients that allows the Company to not reassess: (1) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease classification for any
expired or existing leases and (3) initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases.
 
The Company also adopted the practical expedients that treat the lease and non-lease components of the Company’s leases as a single component for the Company’s facility
leases. The Company elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. As such, for those leases that qualify, the Company did not recognize right-
of-use (“ROU”) asset or lease liabilities as part of the transition adjustment. As of January 1, 2019, the impact on the consolidated assets was approximately $1.1 million and the
impact on the consolidated liabilities was approximately $1.2 million. The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations,
stockholders’ deficiency, or statement of cash flows.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
Subsequent Events
In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Company has evaluated subsequent events between the balance sheet date of March 31, 2019 and June 4,
2019, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
 
4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
A summary of property and equipment as of March 31, 2019 is as follows:
 
Equipment  $ 617,488 
Software   644,197 
Furniture and fixtures   292,421 
Leasehold improvements   87,906 
Total property and equipment   1,642,012 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,527,249)
Property and equipment – net  $ 114,763 
 
5. REVENUE
 
Most of the Company’s current contracts with customers contain a single performance obligation. For contracts that provide multiple services, such as where the Company
performs multiple ancillary services, each service represents its own performance obligation. Selling prices are based on the contractual price for the service.
 
The Company applies the portfolio approach as permitted by ASC 606 as a practical expedient to contracts with similar characteristics and use estimates and assumptions when
accounting for those portfolios. The Company’s contracts generally include standard commercial payment terms. The Company has no significant obligations for refunds,
warranties or similar obligations and its revenue does not include taxes collected from customers.
 
Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
The Company derives revenue from three primary sources: revenue cycle management services, ancillary services and reimbursement and other revenue.
 
The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
 
Revenue cycle management services  $ 1,549,511 
Ancillary services   499,350 
Reimbursement and other revenue   18,347 
Total  $ 2,067,208 
 
Revenue cycle management services:
Revenue cycle management services are the recurring process of submitting and following up on claims with health insurance companies in order for the healthcare providers to
receive payment for the services they rendered. ETM typically invoices customers on a monthly basis based on the actual collections received by its customers and the agreed-
upon rate in the sales contract. The services include use of practice management software and related tools (on a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) basis) and medical billing
services. The Company considers these services to be one performance obligation since the promises are not distinct in the context of the contract. The performance obligation
consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern of transfer to its customers.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
In many cases, the Company’s clients may terminate their agreements with 90 days’ notice without cause, thereby limiting the term in which the Company has enforceable
rights and obligations, although this time period can vary between clients. The Company’s payment terms are normally net 30 days. Although contracts typically have stated
terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 the Company’s contracts are considered month-to-month and accordingly, there is no financing component.
 
For the majority of the Company’s revenue cycle management contracts, the total transaction price is variable because the Company’s obligation is to process an unknown
quantity of claims, as and when requested by the customers over the contract period. When a contract includes variable consideration, the Company evaluates the estimate of the
variable consideration to determine whether the estimate needs to be constrained; therefore, the Company includes variable consideration in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. Estimates to determine variable consideration such as payment to charge ratios, effective billing rates, and the estimated contractual payment periods are
updated at each reporting date. Revenue is recognized over the performance period using the input method.
 
Other revenue streams:
Ancillary services represent services such as document management services, coding and transcription that are rendered in connection with the delivery of revenue cycle
management and related medical credentialing services. The Company invoices customers monthly, based on the actual amount of services performed at the agreed upon rate in
the contract. These services are only offered to revenue cycle management customers. These services do not represent a material right because the services are optional to the
customer and customers electing these services are charged the same price for those services as if they were on a standalone basis. Each individual coding, credentialing or
transcription transaction processed represents a performance obligation, which is satisfied over time as that individual service is rendered.
 
Reimbursement and other revenue are related to expenses paid by the Company for its customers. The Company passes these expenses on to its customers at cost.
 
For all of the above revenue streams, revenue is recognized over time, which is typically one month or less, which closely matches the point in time that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company. Each service is substantially the same and has the same periodic pattern of transfer to the
customer. Each of the services provided above is considered a separate performance obligation.
 
Information about contract balances:
Accounts receivable are shown separately at their net realizable value in the consolidated balance sheet. Amounts that the Company is entitled to collect under the applicable
contract are recorded as accounts receivable. Invoicing is performed at the end of each month when the services have been provided. The contract asset results from the
Company’s medical billing services and is due to the timing of revenue recognition, submission of claims from the Company’s customers and payments from the insurance
providers. The contract asset includes the Company’s right to payment for services already transferred to a customer when the right to payment is conditional on something other
than the passage of time. The contract asset was approximately $140,000 as of March 31, 2019. Changes in the contract asset are recorded as adjustments to net revenues and
primary result from providing services to customers that result in additional consideration and are offset by the Company’s right to payment for services becoming
unconditional.
 
6. PROFIT SHARING PLANS
 
On January 1, 2015, the Etransmedia Technology, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “ETM Plan”) was established. Participating employees may make pre-tax contributions to their 401(k)
accounts, via salary deferrals, up to limits prescribed in the Internal Revenue Code. The Company makes a matching contribution equal to 40% of the employee’s elective
deferrals not to exceed 2% of an employee’s eligible earnings.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
The Company made approximately $11,000 in matching contributions to the ETM Plan for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
 
There is a separate 401(k) plan for HRT whereas the Company makes a safe harbor matching contribution equal to 100% of the employee’s salary deferrals that do not exceed
4% of an employee’s eligible earnings. The Company made approximately $1,000 in safe harbor contributions to the HRT plan for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
 
7. STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIENCY
 
Voting Common Stock
The Company has 180,000 authorized shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of which 1,012 shares are issued and outstanding at March 31, 2019.
 
8. INCOME TAXES
 
There were no uncertain tax positions as of March 31, 2019. There were no accrued interest or penalties recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2019.
 
At March 31, 2019, the Company has unused Federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $28.5 million. Of these, approximately $62,000 will expire in the year
2022, with the remainder expiring through 2037. The Company’s and/or its subsidiaries’ ability to utilize their net operating loss carryforwards may be significantly limited by
IRC Section 382, if the Company or any of its subsidiaries undergoes an “ownership change” as a result of changes in the ownership of the Company’s or its subsidiaries’
outstanding stock.
 
As of March 31, 2019, the Company has approximately $97,000 of research and development tax credit carry forwards, which if not utilized, will begin to expire in 2030, and
approximately $27,000 of alternative minimum tax credit carry forwards, which have no expiration date.
 
Deferred tax assets are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities as measured by the enacted tax
rates.
 
The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred
tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the three-year period ended March 31, 2019. Such objective
evidence limits the ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as the Company’s projections for future growth.
 
On the basis of this evaluation, as of March 31, 2019, a full valuation allowance has been recorded, as management does not foresee the deferred tax asset to be realized. The
amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are reduced or increased
or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as the Company’s projections
for growth.
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states, and local jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal jurisdiction
income tax examinations by tax authorities for the years before May 31, 2015. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. state or local jurisdiction income
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before May 31, 2014.
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
9. LEASES
 
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, current operating lease liabilities and
noncurrent operating lease liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2019. The Company does not have any finance leases.
 
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of lease payments over the lease term.
 
The Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rates, which are derived from information available at the lease commencement date, in determining the present value
of lease payments. For leases in existence at the adoption of ASC 842, the Company used the incremental borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019. The Company gives
consideration to its financing arrangements when calculating the Company’s incremental borrowing rates.
 
The Company’s lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise that option. Leases with a term of less than 12 months are not
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees. For real estate leases, the Company accounts for the
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. Some leases include escalation clauses and termination options that are factored in the determination of the lease
payments when appropriate.
 
The Company leases all of its facilities. Lease expense is included in direct operating costs and general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations
based on the nature of the expense. As of March 31, 2019, the Company had three leased properties, with remaining terms ranging from less than 1 year to 3 years. Lease terms
are determined taking into account lease renewal options, the Company’s anticipated operating plans and leases that are on a month-to-month basis.
 
The components of lease expense were as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
 
Operating lease cost  $ 110,162 
Short-term lease cost   - 
Variable lease cost   10,598 

Total- net lease cost  $ 120,760 
 
Short-term lease cost represents leases that were not capitalized as the lease term as of January 1, 2019 was less than 12 months. Variable lease costs include utilities, real estate
taxes and common area maintenance costs.
 
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
Operating leases:     

Operating lease ROU asset  $ 1,146,116 
     

Current operating lease liabilities  $ 386,385 
Non-current operating lease liabilities   837,861 

Total operating lease liabilities  $ 1,224,246 
     
Operating leases:     

ROU assets  $ 1,235,014 
Asset lease expense   (88,898)

ROU assets, net  $ 1,146,116 
     
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years):     

Operating leases   2.92 
Weighted average discount rate:     

Operating leases   7.17%
 
Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases was as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
 
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:  

Operating cash flows from operating leases  $ 112,913 
     
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:     

Operating leases  $ - 
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ETRANSMEDIA TECHNOLOGY, INC.
AND ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements--Continued
As of and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 (Unaudited)
 
The maturities of lease liabilities are as follows for the years ending December 31:
 
2019 (nine months)  $ 342,263 
2020   464,334 
2021   443,675 
2022   101,625 

Total lease payments   1,351,897 
Less: imputed interest   (127,651)

Total lease obligations   1,224,246 
Less: current obligations   (386,385)

Long term lease obligations  $ 837,861 
 
As of March 31, 2019, there were no additional operating lease commitments that had not yet commenced.
 
10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Litigation
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to litigation which is not expected to have any material impact on the consolidated financial position or liquidity of
the Company. The Company estimates whether such liabilities are probable to occur and whether reasonable estimates can be made, and records a liability when both conditions
are met. Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be accurately predicted due to the inherent uncertainty of litigation, in the opinion of management, based upon
current information, no currently pending or overtly threatened claim is expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, or results of operations,
other than those that have been accrued in the consolidated financial statements.
 
11. RELATED PARTIES

 
The Company received approximately $2.6 million of funding from FHI during the three months ended March 31, 2019. FHI also provided administrative and accounting
support to the Company and to its other operations, which costs have been allocated on the basis of revenue of the respective entities.
 
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENT
 
Effective April 1, 2019, substantially all the assets of the Company were purchased by MED for $1.6 million plus the assumption of certain liabilities as specified in the APA.
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Exhibit 99.3

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
We prepared the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements based on the historical consolidated financial statements of MTBC, Inc. (“MTBC”)
as adjusted to give effect to the following transactions (the “Transactions”):
 
 ● Our acquisition of Etransmedia Technology, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries, (“ETM”), which consist of substantially all of the assets and the assumption of

certain liabilities of ETM with an effective date of April 1, 2019, and
 ● Our acquisition of the Orion Target Businesses, which consist of substantially all of the assets and the assumption of certain liabilities of Orion HealthCorp, Inc. and 13

of its affiliates collectively (“Orion”) with an effective date of July 1, 2018.
 
ETM and Orion are collectively referred to as the “Acquired Businesses.”
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 and for the three months ended March 31, 2019 give effect to the
transactions as if each of them had occurred on January 1, 2018. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2019 gives effect to the
acquisition of ETM as if it had occurred on March 31, 2019.
 
The pro forma condensed combined statements of operations include adjustments for our acquisitions under Article 11 of Regulation S-X. The results of the transactions are
shown for the periods prior to their acquisition by MTBC.
 
We determined that the ETM and Orion transactions each involved the acquisition of a business, and considering the guidance in Rule 11-01(d) of Regulation S-X, met the
significance test of Rule 8-04 of Regulation S-X.
 
The ETM audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and for the years then ended and the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements as of March 31, 2019 and for the three months then ended appear elsewhere in this Form 8-K.
 
We have based the pro forma adjustments upon available information and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. We describe in greater
detail the assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments in the accompanying notes, which you should read in conjunction with these unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements. In many cases, we based these assumptions on estimates. The actual adjustments to our audited consolidated financial statements will depend
upon a number of factors. Accordingly, the actual adjustments that will appear in our consolidated financial statements will differ from these pro forma adjustments, and those
differences may be material.
 
We account for our acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations under generally accepted accounting principles used in the United States
(“GAAP”), with MTBC being considered the acquiring entity. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total consideration paid is allocated to an acquired company’s
tangible and intangible assets, net of liabilities, based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date.
 
We provide these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements for informational purposes only. These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements do not purport to represent what our results of operations or financial condition would have been had the transactions actually occurred on the assumed dates, nor do
they purport to project our consolidated results of operations or financial condition for any future period or future date.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
 

     

January 1, 2018
to 

Jun 30, 2018   

MTBC +
Previously
Acquired      Pro Forma   Pro Forma  

  MTBC   Orion   Subtotal   ETM   Adjustments   Combined  
  (in thousands, except per share data)  
Net revenue  $ 50,546  $ 19,079  $ 69,625  $ 12,251  $ -  $ 81,876 
Operating expenses:                         

Direct operating costs   31,253   14,090   45,343   13,828   -   59,171 
Selling and marketing   1,612   22   1,634   -   -   1,634 
General and administrative   16,264   8,613   24,877   7,857   (521)(1)  32,213 
Research and development   1,030   -   1,030   -   -   1,030 
Change in contingent consideration   73   -   73   -   -   73 
Depreciation and amortization   2,854   2,166   5,020   82   (1,238)(2)  3,864 

Total operating expenses   53,086   24,891   77,977   21,767   (1,759)   97,985 
                         

Operating (loss) income   (2,540)   (5,812)   (8,352)   (9,516)   1,759   (16,109)
                         

Adjustment of net intercompany
balances   -   3,111(3)  3,111   -   -   3,111 
Interest (expense) income - net   (250)   -   (250)   1   -   (249)
Other income - net   494   -   494   169   -   663 

(Loss) income before income taxes   (2,296)   (2,701)   (4,997)   (9,346)   1,759   (12,584)
Income tax (benefit) provision   (158)   11   (147)   (50)   -(4)  (197)

Net (loss) income  $ (2,138)  $ (2,712)  $ (4,850)  $ (9,296)  $ 1,759  $ (12,387)
                         

Preferred stock dividend   4,824   -   4,824   -   -   4,824 
Net (loss) income attributable to common
shareholders  $ (6,962)  $ (2,712)  $ (9,674)  $ (9,296)  $ 1,759  $ (17,211)

                         
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding:                         
Basic and diluted   11,721                   11,721 
Loss per share                         
Basic and diluted  $ (0.59)                  $ (1.47)
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2019
 

  MTBC   ETM   
Pro Forma

Adjustments   
Pro Forma
Combined  

  (in thousands, except per share data)  
Net revenue  $ 15,080  $ 2,067  $ -  $ 17,147 
Operating expenses:                 

Direct operating costs   9,848   2,716   -   12,564 
Selling and marketing   361   -   -   361 
General and administrative   4,162   1,141   (8)(1)  5,295 
Research and development   254   -   -   254 
Change in contingent consideration   (64)   -   -   (64)
Depreciation and amortization   757   20   59(2)  836 

Total operating expenses   15,318   3,877   51   19,246 
                 

Operating loss   (238)   (1,810)   (51)   (2,099)
                 

Interest expense - net   (17)   -   -   (17)
Other expense - net   (81)   -   -   (81)

Loss before income taxes   (336)   (1,810)   (51)   (2,197)
Income tax (benefit) provision   (40)   2   -(4)  (38)

Net loss  $ (296)  $ (1,812)  $ (51)  $ (2,159)
                 
Preferred stock dividend   1,492   -   -   1,492 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders  $ (1,788)  $ (1,812)  $ (51)  $ (3,651)
                 
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:                 
Basic and diluted   11,946           11,946 
Loss per share:                 
Basic and diluted  $ (0.15)          $ (0.31)
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF MARCH 31, 2019
 

        Adjustments      Acquisition     
        for Assets   ETM   Related     
        not   Acquisition   Pro Forma   Pro Forma  
  MTBC   ETM   Acquired   Subtotal   Adjustments   Results  
  (in thousands)  

Cash  $ 12,527  $ 772   $ (772)(5) $ -   $ (1,600)(7) $ 10,927 
Accounts receivable - net   7,808   1,668   -   1,668   (1,121)(7)  8,355 
Contract asset   2,356   139   -   139   -   2,495 
Inventory   364   -   -   -   -   364 
Current assets - related party   13   -   -   -   -   13 
Other current assets   907   270   (270)(5)  -   -   907 

Current assets   23,975   2,849   (1,042)   1,807   (2,721)   23,061 
Property and equipment - net   2,149   115   -   115   (24)(7)  2,240 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   4,031   1,146   -   1,146   78(7)  5,255 
Intangible assets - net   6,084   -   -   -   856(6)  6,940 
Goodwill   12,594   -   -   -   40(6)  12,634 
Other assets   469   -   -   -   -   469 

Total assets  $ 49,302  $ 4,110  $ (1,042)  $ 3,068  $ (1,771)  $ 50,599 
                         
Accounts payable  $ 2,066  $ 804   $ (804)(5) $ -  $ -  $ 2,066 
Accrued compensation   1,652   232   (232)(5)  -   -   1,652 
Accrued expenses   2,064   853   -   853   (779)(7)  2,138 
Operating lease liability (current portion)   1,681   386   -   386   3(7)  2,070 
Payable to affiliates   -   8,589   (8,589)(5)  -   -   - 
Deferred revenue   21   -   -   -   -   21 
Accrued liability to related parties   11   -   -   -   -   11 
Notes payable - other (current portion)   186   -   -   -   -   186 
Contingent consideration   307   -   -   -   -   307 
Dividend payable   1,487   -   -   -   -   1,487 
Income tax payable   -   28   (28)(5)  -   -   - 
Revenue share payable   -   91   (91)(5)  -   -   - 

Total current liabilities   9,475   10,983   (9,744)   1,239   (776)   9,938 
Notes payable - other   202   -   -   -   -   202 
Operating lease liability   2,483   838   -   838   (4)(7)  3,317 
Deferred revenue   19   -   -   -   -   19 
Deferred tax liability   108   -   -   -   -   108 

Total liabilities   12,287   11,821   (9,744)   2,077   (780)   13,584 
Preferred stock   2   -   -   -   -   2 
Common stock   13   -   -   -   -   13 
Additional paid-in capital   63,373   42   (42)(5)  -   -   63,373 
Accumulated deficit   (24,499)   (7,753)   7,753(5)  -   -   (24,499)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (1,212)   -   -   -   -   (1,212)
Common shares held in treasury   (662)   -   -   -   -   (662)
Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)   37,015   (7,711)   7,711   -   -   37,015 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
(deficiency)  $ 49,302  $ 4,110  $ (2,033)  $ 2,077  $ (780)  $ 50,599 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
ETM is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Formativ Health, Inc. (“FHI”) and was acquired by FHI in September 2016. In April 2019, MTBC-Med, Inc. (“MED”), a newly-created
Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of MTBC, Inc., entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“APA”) with FHI to acquire substantially all of the assets of
ETM. The agreement for sale was signed on April 3, 2019, with the transaction being effective as of April 1, 2019. Pursuant to the APA and subject to the conditions set forth
therein, MED paid $1.6 million in cash and assumed certain liabilities in connection with the acquisition.
 
Orion is a wholly owned subsidiary of Constellation Healthcare Technologies, Inc. (“Constellation”). Orion, Constellation and their affiliates filed for bankruptcy on March 16,
2018 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of New York (the “Court”). The filing was made under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 
In May 2018, MTBC entered into an asset purchase agreement as the primary bidder (also known as “stalking horse” under Section 363 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code) by the
Court to acquire the revenue cycle, practice management and group purchasing organization assets of Orion. The Court approved the sale in an order dated June 25, 2018 with
an effective date of July 1, 2018, and pursuant to the asset purchase agreement and subject to the conditions set forth therein, MTBC paid $12.6 million in cash and assumed
certain liabilities.
 
The consolidated financial statements consist of ETM and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Archiivus, LLC, Hart Associates, LLC, Associated Billing Services, LLC, Medi-Claim
Services, LLC, Mediigistics, LLC and DoctorsXL Holdings, LLC.
 
The audited 2018 and interim unaudited 2019 consolidated financial statements of ETM were prepared under GAAP. Revenue recognition was determined under ASC 606 for
the year ended December 31, 2018 and for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
 
The purchase price allocation for ETM was performed by the Company, using similar methodology used by an outside valuation firm for previous acquisitions.
 
NOTES:
 
(1) Expenses Directly Attributable to the Transactions  — The following are non-recurring transaction expenses for professional and other fees incurred by the Company

during the year ended December 31, 2018 and the three months ended March 31, 2019 associated with the Transactions.
 
Non-recurring transaction expenses associated with the Acquired Businesses
 

  MTBC   Orion   ETM   
Pro Forma 

Adjustments  
  (in thousands)  
Year ended December 31, 2018  $ 521  $ -  $ -  $ 521 
Three months ended March 31, 2019   8   -   -   8 
 

(2) Amortization of Purchased Intangible Assets — We amortize intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. We based the estimated useful lives of acquired intangible
assets on the amount and timing in which we expect to receive an economic benefit. We typically assign these intangible assets a useful life of between 3-4 years based upon
a number of factors, including contractual agreements, consumer awareness and economic factors pertaining to the combined companies. We assigned a useful life of 12
years to the intangible asset representing the value of Orion’s relationships with three pediatric practices which are managed under long-term agreements which cannot be
terminated by the practices unless the management entity goes bankrupt or commits gross negligence, fraud or illegal acts.
 
The estimates of fair value and weighted-average useful lives could be impacted by a variety of factors including legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or
other factors. Increased knowledge about these factors could result in a change to the estimated fair value of these intangible assets and/or the weighted-average useful lives
from what we have assumed in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. In addition, the combined effect of any such changes could result in a
significant increase or decrease to the related amortization expense estimates.
 
The amortization of intangible assets of our acquisitions, shown below, assumes that the assets were acquired on January 1, 2018. Amortization other than the customer
relationships related to practice management is computed using the double declining balance method to reflect the expected economic benefit over the period associated with
each statement of operations. Amortization for the practice management intangible is computed using the straight-line method.
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Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2018
 

  Orion   ETM   Total Expense  
  (in thousands)  
Pro forma amortization expense for the period prior to acquisition  $ 516  $ 342  $ 858 
As recorded in the historical financial statements   2,084   12   2,096 

Pro forma adjustment  $ (1,568)  $ 330  $ (1,238)
 
There was no adjustment for depreciation or amortization not related to purchased intangible assets.
 
Amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2019
 

  ETM  
   (in thousands)  
Pro forma amortization expense for the period prior to acquisition  $ 62 
As recorded in the historical financial statements   3 

Pro forma adjustment  $ 59 
 

(3) Adjustment of net intercompany balances — Due to the bankruptcy, the intercompany receivable and the intercompany payable amounts with the affiliated companies that
were not acquired will not be the settled with the remaining Orion or Constellation entities. Accordingly, the net intercompany balance of $3.1 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2018 were charged/credited to operations in the period the transaction occurred.
 

(4) Benefit for Income Tax —  The income tax effects reflected in the pro forma adjustments are based on an estimated Federal statutory rate of 21% for the year ended
December 31, 2018 and the three months ended March 31, 2019. We did not record a benefit for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018 or for the three months
ended March 31, 2019, in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations since the Company has a valuation allowance recorded against its Federal
and state deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019. State income taxes were not considered material and have not been included in the amounts
below.
 
The following table details the pro forma adjustments to income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2018:
 
Benefit for Income Taxes
 

  Orion   ETM   
Pro Forma

Adjustments   

Pro Forma Loss
before Benefit for

Income Taxes 
  (in thousands)  
(Loss) income before benefit for income taxes  $ (2,701)  $ (9,346)  $ 1,759  $ (10,288)

Estimated tax benefit at statutory income tax rate of 21%   (2,160)
Less provision for income taxes:     

Orion   - 
ETM   - 

Valuation allowance   2,160 
Pro forma adjustment  $ - 
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The following table details the pro forma adjustments to income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2019:
 

        Pro Forma  
        Loss before  
     Pro Forma   Benefit for  
  ETM   Adjustments   Income Taxes  
  (in thousands)  
Loss before benefit for income taxes  $ (1,810)  $ (51)  $ (1,861)

Estimated tax benefit at statutory income tax rate of 21%   (391)
Less provision for income taxes:     

ETM   - 
Valuation allowance   391 

Pro forma adjustment  $ - 
  

(5) Assets and Liabilities Not Acquired — We adjusted the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet to eliminate approximately $1.0 million of assets held by
ETM that we did not acquire, and approximately $9.7 million of liabilities that we did not assume. The APA includes the purchase primarily of ETM’s customer relationships
and agreements, accounts receivable, technology, fixed assets, operating lease right-of-use assets, contract asset and the assumption of certain specified liabilities, including
operating lease liabilities.
 
Pro Forma Adjustments for Assets and Liabilities Not Acquired  — The following schedule summarizes the adjustments to assets and liabilities in the unaudited pro
forma condensed combined balance sheet, including all adjustments above as well as the adjustments to intangibles as specified below:
 
Pro Forma Adjustments for Assets not Acquired and Liabilities not
Assumed    
    
  Pro Forma  
  Adjustments  
  (in thousands)  
Cash  $ (772)
Other current assets   (270)

Total assets  $ (1,042)
     
Accounts payable  $ (804)
Accrued compensation   (232)
Payable to affiliates   (8,589)
Income tax payable   (28)
Revenue share payable   (91)
Total liabilities   (9,744)
Shareholders’ deficiency   (7,711)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficiency  $ (17,455)
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(6) Intangible Assets — We based our estimates of each intangible asset type/category that we expect to recognize as part of the ETM acquisition on the nature of the business
and the fair value of contracts that we have entered into with the sellers. We based our estimates on experiences from our prior acquisitions and the types of intangible assets
that we recognized as part of those acquisitions. In particular, our experience with our prior acquisitions indicates that customer contracts and customer relationships compose
the significant majority of intangible assets for these types of businesses. We based the estimated useful lives of these intangible assets on the useful lives that we have
experienced for similar intangible assets in prior acquisitions and on the nature of the assets.
 
The amounts set forth below reflect the fair value of the intangible assets of ETM that we acquired, and their estimated useful lives.
 
Intangible Assets of ETM     Estimated
     useful life
  (in thousands)    
Customer relationships  $ 856  4 years
Goodwill   40   

Total intangible assets  $ 896   
 
(7) Purchase Price Allocation — We recognize the assets and liabilities acquired at their fair value on the acquisition date, and if there is any excess in purchase price over these

values, it is allocated to goodwill.
 
For ETM, management has made a fair value estimate of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of April 1, 2019. Our model includes assumptions such as revenue
growth rates, profitability rates, attrition rates and weighted average costs of capital, where applicable.
 
The acquisition of ETM includes the transfer of all customer relationships and agreements, accounts receivable, technology, property and equipment and the assumption of
certain specified liabilities. We determined the fair value of the property and equipment acquired by reference to current market prices for such assets, and the value of the
assumed liabilities was contractually specified. An adjustment of $24,000 was required to adjust the property and equipment to fair value. The fair value of the accounts
receivable was determined based on the subsequent collections and the customer’s payment history.
 
Included in the purchase price allocation are amounts for customer relationships determined by the Company using the multi-period excess earnings approach which was
utilized in previous acquisitions.
 
The following table shows the purchase price allocation, estimated fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed for ETM as of March 31, 2019, the date of our
most recent consolidated balance sheet.
 
Purchase Price Allocation    
  ETM  
   (in thousands)  
Total purchase price - Cash consideration  $ 1,600 
     
Accounts receivable  $ 547 
Contract asset   139 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,224 
Customer relationships   856 
Goodwill   40 
Property and equipment   91 
Liabilities assumed   (1,297)
Total purchase price allocation  $ 1,600 
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Exhibit 99.4

 
Supplemental Information
 
For ETM and Orion, we identified revenue from customers who cancelled their contracts prior to MTBC’s acquisition of such customers’ contracts. Such revenue is included in
the pro forma condensed combined statement of operations, even though MTBC will not generate revenues from those customers.
 
Estimated revenue from customers who cancelled prior to our acquisition
 

  Orion   ETM   Total  
          
Year ended December 31, 2018  $ 2,308  $ 3,987  $ 6,295 
Three months ended March 31, 2019   -   213   213 
 
To provide investors with additional insight and allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the information used by management in its financial and operational
decision-making surrounding pro forma operations, we supplement our condensed combined financial statements presented on a basis consistent with GAAP, with adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure of earnings. Adjusted EBITDA represents the sum of GAAP net income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes, net
interest expense, other expense (income), stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, integration and transaction costs, and changes in contingent
consideration. Our management uses adjusted EBITDA as a financial measure to evaluate the profitability and efficiency of our business model. We use this non-GAAP
financial measure to assess the strength of the underlying operations of our business. These adjustments, and the non-GAAP financial measure that is derived from them,
provide supplemental information to analyze our operations between periods and over time. We find this especially useful when reviewing pro forma results of operations
which include large non-cash amortization of intangibles assets from acquisitions. Investors should consider this non-GAAP financial measure in addition to, and not as a
substitute for, financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.
 
The following tables contain a reconciliation of GAAP net (loss) income to adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the three months ended March 31,
2019:
 
Reconciliation of GAAP net (loss) income for the year ended
December 31, 2018 to adjusted EBITDA
($000)
 

        MTBC +           
        Previously           
        Acquired      Pro Forma   Pro Forma  
  MTBC   Orion   Subtotal   ETM   Adjustments   Combined  

  (in thousands)  
Net revenue  $ 50,546  $ 19,079  $ 69,625  $ 12,251  $ -  $ 81,876 
                         
GAAP net (loss) income  $ (2,138)  $ (2,712)  $ (4,850)  $ (9,296)  $ 1,759  $ (12,387)
                         

(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (157)   11   (146)   (50)   -   (196)
Net interest expense   250   -   250   1   -   251 
Foreign exchange / other expense   (435)   -   (435)   (169)   -   (604)
Stock-based compensation expense   2,464   -   2,464   -   -   2,464 
Depreciation and amortization   2,854   2,166   5,020   82   (1,238)   3,864 
Integration and transaction costs (1)   1,891   -   1,891   -   (521)   1,370 
Change in contingent consideration   73   -   73   -   -   73 

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 4,802  $ (535)  $ 4,267  $ (9,432)  $ -  $ (5,165)
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Reconciliation of GAAP net loss for the three months ended
March 31, 2019 to adjusted EBITDA
($000)
 

        Pro Forma   Pro Forma  
  MTBC   ETM   Adjustments   Combined  

  (in thousands)  
Net revenue  $ 15,080  $ 2,067  $ -  $ 17,147 
                 
GAAP net loss  $ (296)  $ (1,812)  $ (51)  $ (2,159)
                 

(Benefit) provision for income taxes   (41)   2   -   (39)
Net interest expense   17   -   -   17 
Foreign exchange / other expense   244   -   -   244 
Stock-based compensation expense   758   -   -   758 
Depreciation and amortization   757   20   -   777 
Integration and transaction costs (1)   205   -   (8)   197 
Change in contingent consideration   (64)   -   -   (64)

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 1,580  $ (1,790)  $ (59)  $ (269)
 
(1) The integration and transactions costs for MTBC include severance amounts paid to employees from acquired businesses, transactions costs, such as brokerage fees, pre-

acquisition accounting costs and legal fees and exit costs related to contractual agreements.
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